# FILED January 22, 2016 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

NO. 73069-0-I

THE COURT	OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGT DIVISION ONE
	STATE OF WASHINGTON,
	Respondent,
	v.
	THOMASDINH BOWMAN,
	Appellant.
	AL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY
	Γhe Honorable Bruce E. Heller, Judge
	REVISED BRIEF OF APPELLANT
	KEVIN A. MA

Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

#

### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred in denying Thomasdinh Newsome Bowman's <u>Batson</u><sup>1</sup> challenge after the State peremptorily challenged the sole African American juror in the jury box.
- 2. Defense counsel rendered ineffective assistance by refusing to exercise his own professional judgment in determining whether to request instructions on lesser included offenses to premeditated first degree murder.
- 3. Washington's pattern jury instruction on reasonable doubt is unconstitutional.
- 4. The trial court erred in sustaining objections during the defense closing to correct statements of law and reasonable arguments based on the evidence.
  - 5. Cumulative error deprived Bowman of a fair trial.
- 6a. The trial court erred in imposing legal financial obligations (LFOs) on Bowman without assessing his ability to pay.
- 6b. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the trial court's imposition of discretionary LFOs.

### Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1a. When the State fails to provide an adequate race-neutral explanation for exercising a peremptory challenge against an African

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90 L. Ed. 2d 69 (1986).

American juror and instead proffers reasons not supported by the record or not unique to the challenged juror, is the State's peremptory challenge merely pretextual or a proxy for race such that the peremptory challenge violates <u>Batson</u>?

- 1b. In light of recent case law indicating <u>Batson</u> provides an inadequate framework for addressing racial discrimination in jury selection, should this court adopt a more workable standard that sustains a <u>Batson</u> challenge whenever there is a reasonable probability that a juror's race was a factor in the prosecution's exercise of a peremptory challenge?
- 2. Under case law, it is defense counsel's responsibility as a matter of trial strategy to ultimately decide whether to request lesser included offense instructions. Did defense counsel render ineffective assistance when he refused to exercise his own professional judgment and instead declined to request lesser included offense instructions based solely on Bowman's direction?
- 3. Did the reasonable doubt instruction, stating a "reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists," misdescribe the burden of proof, undermine the presumption of innocence, and shift the burden to Bowman to provide a reason for why reasonable doubt exists?
- 4a. In prohibiting the defense from arguing that a self defense claim was subjective and that the State's evidence did not show

premeditation, did the trial court deprive Bowman of his right to present a defense and right to effective counsel?

- 5. Does the cumulative effect of the assigned errors, if the errors do not each themselves warrant reversal, require reversal?
- 6a. Did the trial court exceed its statutory authority under RCW 10.01.160(3) when it imposed discretionary LFOs without first considering Bowman's current and future ability to pay?
- 6b. Was counsel ineffective for failing to object to the imposition of discretionary LFOs?

### B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### 1. Charges

The State charged Bowman with first degree premeditated murder for the shooting death of Yancy Noll on August 31, 2012, and also alleged Bowman was armed with a firearm per RCW 9.94A.533(3). CP 1.

### 2. Factual background and evidence at trial

On August 31, 2012, around 7:30 p.m., witnesses heard five gunshots at the intersection of 15th Avenue NE and NE 75th Street in Seattle's Roosevelt neighborhood. 12RP<sup>2</sup> 47, 72-73; 13RP 17, 35, 100.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Bowman refers to the reports of proceedings as follows: 1RP—October 31, 2014; 2RP—November 3, 2014; 3RP—November 4, 2014; 4RP—November 5, 2014; 5RP—November 6, 2014; 6RP—November 10, 2014; 7RP—November 17, 2014; 8RP—November 17, 2014 (supplement containing voir dire); 9RP—November 18, 2014 (supplement containing voir dire); 10RP—November 18, 2014; 11RP—November 19, 2014 (supplement containing voir dire and opening statements); 12RP—November 19,

They then heard an engine rev and saw a silver BMW convertible with the top down quickly driving southbound. 12RP 52, 54, 73; 13RP 18-19, 21, 28, 30, 35-37, 103-05, 129-30, 133-34. Witnesses saw the driver and met with a police sketch artist to provide a description. 12RP 60-61; 14RP 44-45.

Police responded to reports of multiple shots and a male bleeding inside a red Subaru. 13RP 79. He had four gunshots to the head. 13RP 82; 18RP 69, 74, 78, 80.

A couple weeks later, a Crime Stoppers tip turned the police investigation towards Bowman. 14RP 91. Police obtained a search warrant for Bowman's home and found a 2006 silver BMW. 14RP 92-93. When executing the search warrant, police found broken glass inside the car and the wheels looked like they had been freshly painted black. 14RP 94-95.

Bowman had taken his car to Portland on September 1, 2012 to Safelite Auto Glass and had the passenger window replaced. 14RP 137, 141, 151, 158. Bowman explained to Safelite Auto Glass employees that he had been shopping in downtown Portland and came back to find the window was broken. 14RP 140, 152, 159.

Bowman also had ordered new tires at Big O Tires in Lynwood on September 19 or 20, 2012. 15RP 68-69. Douglas Haskett, of Big O Tires,

22RP—January 2, 2015.

<sup>2014; 13</sup>RP—November 20, 2014; 14RP—November 24, 2014; 15RP—November 25, 2014; 16RP—December 1, 2014; 17RP—December 2, 2014; 18RP—December 3, 2014; 19RP—December 4, 2014; 20RP—December 8, 2014; 21RP—December 9, 2014;

was confused about why the tires needed to be replaced because the tires were "like brand-new." 15RP 75. Bowman indicated a friend wanted the tires. 15RP 75. Haskett also noticed that paint came off the wheels while they were changing the tires and was concerned because the wheels were very expensive. 15RP 75, 77. Bowman indicated he would "re-spray-paint[] them." 15RP 77.

Police also searched Bowman's workplace, Vague Industries in Seattle's SoDo neighborhood. 15RP 98. They found a slide from a Glock handgun inside a storage container. 15RP 135. The State's firearm and tool mark examiners concluded that the cartridge cases found at the homicide scene were fired from that particular Glock slide. 15RP 165-66.

The police also found electronic equipment at Vague Industries, including computer towers and hard drives. 16RP 150-52. Detective Chris Hansen made images of the various electronic equipment's contents using the forensic software program EnCase. 16RP 196-204.

Hansen described various materials he found on the electronic equipment, which included a National Rifle Association video on vehicular defense. 17RP 68. Hansen also found several PDFs, including those titled "Forensic Gunshot Residue Analysis," "Chemical Analysis of Firearms and Gunshot Residue," "Gunshot Wounds Practical Aspects of Firearms, Ballistics, and Forensic Techniques," "Advances in Fingerprint

Technology," "Automated Fingerprint Identification," Forensic Interpretation of Glass Evidence," "Arrest-Proof Yourself," "Murder, Inc.," and "Death Dealer's Manual." 17RP 68-71; see also 18RP 115-26. These materials were "found in subfolders of a folder called 'Reference' on the hard drive." 17RP 71. The reference folder contained 350 gigabytes of data. 17RP 74. The State's witnesses attempted to draw parallels between these materials and drawings and statements in a journal Bowman maintained. 18RP 112, 139-46.

Police also found evidence Bowman had looked at Noll's Facebook memorial page and the police blotter titled "Surveillance video of suspect's car in Roosevelt homicide." 17RP 85-86, 95.

Overall, the police found more than 12 terabytes of materials. 17RP 97. Although the State's witnesses acknowledged there was so much electronic material found that no one person could read all of it, the State relied on of these materials as evidence of Bowman's planning and premeditation at trial. See 17RP 97 (Hansen stating it was "very unlikely" that Bowman read all the material found); 18RP 149 (officer Frank Clark recognizing "I don't think anybody could" read all of the materials and stating he had no idea if Bowman actually read any of the materials).

### 3. Self defense evidence

Bowman admitted to shooting Noll in self defense. Bowman testified he had perhaps cut off Noll while getting off northbound I-5. 19RP 41. Noll honked, accelerated, flashed headlights, and yelled, "You better learn how to drive that fancy car, dick boy, or you're going to get yourself fucked up." 19RP 44-47. Shortly afterwards, the front dashboard area of Bowman's car was hit with a water bottle Noll threw. 19RP 49-50.

Bowman said Noll was chasing him, accelerating quickly through Seattle streets south of the Lake City Way exit. 19RP 51, 54-58. Bowman was afraid and opened up his bag where he kept a gun. 19RP 62.

Bowman then described something hit him, in response to which he crouched down and tried to duck inside the car. 19RP 63-64. Noll "pulled up right to the side and he was kind of leaning out -- like, leaning out of the car and flipping me off with his left hand and yelling." 19RP 64. Noll was extremely angry. 19RP 64. Bowman recalled hearing "dick boy" and that Noll was going to "fuck [him] up." 19RP 66.

Then Bowman described Noll turning away and ruffling or searching for something on the passenger side of the vehicle. 19RP 66-68. Bowman thought Noll was rummaging for a gun. 19RP 73. Bowman stated that when Noll turned back toward him, everything "went completely quiet . . . . It was . . . completely surreal in, like, a nightmare where you fade from one -

- like, there's some horrible thing happening and then it just kind of ends." 19RP 68. Bowman's next remembered opening his eyes, seeing his gun, broken window, and glass inside his car. 19RP 68-69. Bowman testified he did not remember shooting Noll and did not intend to kill him. 19RP 65, 67.

### 4. Batson challenge

At a sidebar during jury selection, the State indicated it would be peremptorily challenging the only African American woman sitting in the jury box, Juror 5. 11RP 65 (putting peremptory challenge sidebar on record). The trial court directed the prosecutor to provide a race-neutral explanation for the peremptory. 11RP 66.

The State proffered five primary reasons it felt were race neutral for challenging Juror 5: (1) her nephew was in prison for murder and Juror 5 stated she would "like to believe" he was innocent though she did not actually believe so, 9RP 112; 11RP 21, 66-67; (2) the State wasn't sure "about her ability to follow things," 11RP 66-67; (3) she answered affirmatively to the State's question about whether it is difficult to "sit in judgment" of others, 11RP 66-67; (4) she referenced an Apple television commercial which "seemed to have nothing to do with anything," 11RP 66-67; (5) she was not "completely forthcoming about whatever her job is," 11RP 67. The State also assured the trial court that it was not seeking to

excuse Juror 5 on the basis of race, "not[ing] there are numerous minorities on this panel. There are one or two in the box itself." 11RP 68.

The trial court denied the <u>Batson</u> challenge, relying primarily on Juror 5's agreement with the prosecutor that "she would have trouble sitting in judgment of somebody." 11RP 70-71. As a secondary reason, which was "people could differ about what inferences they drew from" Juror 5's statement that "she would like to think [her nephew]'s innocent." 11RP 71. The trial court stated it "wouldn't be as bothered by that," likely because "[s]he never said that she thought her nephew was innocent." 11RP 71. The trial court did not address the State's other proffered race-neutral reasons.

### 5. Jury instructions

Defense counsel raised a need to have a colloquy on the record with Bowman regarding whether to request lesser included offenses. 19RP 174. Defense counsel asserted, "it's ultimately [Bowman's] decision, not mine. So I need to look into that with him." 19RP 174.

The next day, the parties revisited the lesser included issue. The State argued that the decision to propose lesser included offense instructions is ultimately counsel's, not the defendant's, decision under <u>State v. Grier</u>, 171 Wn.2d 17, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011). 20RP 168. The State thus sought "a statement that this is a strategic decision." Defense counsel repeatedly and

fervently indicated the decision to request lesser included instructions was his client's. 20RP 168-69; 21RP 5

The jury was also instructed, "A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence." CP 25.

### 6. <u>Defense closing</u>

During closing, defense counsel argued, "The State has the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the homicide was not justifiable . . . . and keep in mind this is all subjective, because you have to view things from Mr. Bowman's standpoint." 21RP 104. The State objected, "This is a misstatement," and the trial court sustained the State's objection. 21RP 105.

To respond to arguments that Bowman was a "student of murder because he possessed this manual, and this book," counsel argued, "he certainly did not follow the lessons, all the lessons prescribed in those books. Don't do anything in broad daylight. Two, don't do anything in heavy traffic. Three, don't do anything in a flashy car." 21RP 117. The State objected, "facts not in evidence." This objection was sustained.

### 7. Verdict, judgment, sentence, and appeal

The jury returned a verdict finding Bowman guilty of first degree murder. CP 17. By special verdict, jurors also found him armed with a firearm at the time of the crime. CP 18.

The trial court sentenced Bowman to a standard range sentence of 290 months and imposed a 60-month firearm enhancement for a total prison term of 350 months. CP 88. Along with the mandatory \$500 victim penalty assessment and the \$100 DNA collection fee, the trial court imposed \$665 in discretionary court costs. CP 87. Although the judgment and sentence contained boilerplate language that the trial court considered Bowman's financial resources as well as his current and future ability to pay LFOs, the trial court did not actually engage in this inquiry. CP 87; 22RP 47.

Bowman timely appealed. CP 95.

### C. ARGUMENT

1. THE PROSECUTION'S REASONS FOR PEREMPTORILY CHALLENGING JUROR 5 WERE NOT RACE NEUTRAL BUT PRETEXTUAL OR A PROXY FOR RACE, AND THE TRIAL COURT CLEARLY ERRED IN REJECTING BOWMAN'S BATSON CHALLENGE

The Fourteenth Amendment's equal protection clause requires trial "by a jury whose members are selected pursuant to nondiscriminatory criteria." <u>Batson v. Kentucky</u>, 476 U.S. 79, 85-86, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90 L. Ed. 2d 69 (1986). When the prosecution peremptorily challenges a venireperson based on race, it violates the defendant's right to equal protection of the laws. <u>Id.</u>

<u>Batson</u> establishes a three-part test to determine whether the State's peremptory challenge is discriminatory: (1) the defendant must establish a prima facie case of discrimination; (2) if the defendant establishes a prima facie case, the State bears the burden to articulate a race-neutral reason for exercising the peremptory challenge on the juror; and (3) the trial court ponders the plausibility of the State's explanation and determines whether the peremptory challenge is discriminatory. <u>Id.</u> at 93-98.

During a sidebar, defense counsel raised a <u>Batson</u> challenge to the prosecution's peremptory challenge against Juror 5. 11RP 60, 64-66. Juror 5 was the "only African-American woman even close to being seated in the case." 11RP 69. The trial court apparently believed the defense had made a prima facie showing of the State's discriminatory purpose, given that it asked the State to proceed with the second step of <u>Batson</u> after putting the sidebar on the record. 11RP 66. In any event, "a prima facie showing is unnecessary once the State has offered a purported race-neutral explanation and the trial court has ruled on the ultimate question of intentional discrimination." <u>State v. Cook</u>, 175 Wn. App. 36, 39, 312 P.3d 653 (2013) (citing <u>State v. Luvene</u>, 127 Wn.2d 690, 699, 903 P.2d 960 (1995) (citing <u>Hernandez v. New York</u>, 500 U.S. 352, 359, 111 S. Ct. 1859, 114 L. Ed. 2d 395 (1991))). Thus, the only pertinent question is "whether the State's

reasons given for the peremptory challenge were race neutral." <u>Cook</u>, 175 Wn. App. at 39. The answer is no.

a. The State's reliance on the incarceration of Juror 5's nephew for a murder that occurred more than 30 years ago was pretextual

The State began its unconvincing race-neutral explanation by pointing out that Juror 5 "has a nephew who [is] in prison for murder. She would like to believe that he's innocent. In which case she believes she has an innocent nephew in prison for murder." 11RP 66. This fails as a race-neutral explanation for three reasons.

First, the record does not support the prosecutor's claim that Juror 5 believed she had an innocent nephew in prison for murder. The prosecutor asked whether Juror 5 believed her nephew "was rightfully or wrongly accused," to which Juror 5 responded, "That's hard because I don't know," and "I don't know that I'll ever know for sure. I know what I'd like to believe, but I don't know for sure." 9RP 112. Juror 5 proceeded to explain that she had no firsthand knowledge of her nephew's court proceedings and had only heard about his case indirectly through relatives in California. 9RP 112-13. Juror 5 also discussed her mixed feelings about law enforcement, describing both positive and negative experiences. 9RP 113-14. After hearing these experiences, the prosecutor stated, "So you had a lot of experiences in your life that seem to me might make you a good juror in this

case." 9RP 115. Juror 5 agreed, stating, "I think I would be as fair as I know how to be. I would. I would look at things. I would -- I'm analytical too. And I don't rush." 9RP 115. The following day, the prosecutor asked Juror 5, "So do you believe that there's a chance that your nephew is in prison unjustly?" 11RP 21. Juror 5 responded, "I don't believe that. I don't believe that." 11RP 21.

These exchanges demonstrate there was no basis in the record for the prosecutor's assertion that Juror 5 would not be a good juror because she believed she had an innocent nephew in prison for murder. 11RP 66. Although Juror 5 stated she might like to believe in her family member's innocence—and who would not *like to believe* a relative was innocent?—she stated very clearly that she did not actually believe he was innocent.<sup>3</sup> The prosecutor's characterization of Juror 5's statements to the contrary was wholly unsupported by the record. "[T]his alone can 'raise[] an inference' that the remaining reasons are pretextual." Cook, 175 Wn. App. at 40 n.9 (second alteration in original) (quoting Ali v. Hickman, 584 F.3d 1174, 1192 (9th Cir. 2009)); see also Lewis v. Lewis, 321 F.3d 824, 830 (9th Cir. 2003) ("[I]f a review of the record undermines the prosecutor's stated reasons, or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> During her <u>Batson</u> argument, though the prosecutor acknowledged, "She thinks he probably isn't [innocent], but she would like to believe that," the prosecutor nonetheless continued, "And that means that she believes that there are innocent people in prison for murder in her family." 11RP 67. The prosecutor's second statement does not follow from the first.

many of the proffered reasons, the reasons may be deemed a pretext for racial discrimination."). The prosecution's peremptory challenge of Juror 5 was impermissibly based on race.

Second, Juror 5 was not the only juror who had a relative in prison for murder yet the State only exercised a challenge against Juror 5 for this reason. "A prosecutor's motives may be revealed as pretextual where a given explanation is equally applicable to a juror of a different race who was not stricken by the exercise of a peremptory challenge." McClain v. Prunty, 217 F.3d 1209, 1220 (9th Cir. 2000); see also Snyder v. Louisiana, 552 U.S. 472, 483, 128 S. Ct. 1203, 170 L. Ed. 2d 175 (2008) ("The implausibility of this explanation is reinforced by the prosecutor's acceptance of white jurors who disclosed conflicting obligations that appear to have been at least as serious as Mr. Brooks'.").

Juror 2, who sat on the jury, disclosed during voir dire that his or her maternal relative had also been convicted of first degree murder. 9RP 59. And, unlike Juror 5's nephew, who had been in prison for more than 30 years, Juror 2's relative was convicted only 12 years ago. 9RP 59-60. The prosecution cannot claim its peremptory strike of Juror 5 for having a murder convict as a relative was race neutral when it did not seek to exclude a non-

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