A. ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Was the State's peremptory challenge to Juror 5 based

on race-neutral reasons and should the trial court's conclusion that

the reasons were "not racially based and not a proxy for race" be

affirmed?

2. Has Bowman failed to establish that defense trial

counsel's decision to defer to Bowman's choice to decline to proffer

a lesser included offense was ineffective assistance of counsel?

3. Should this Court follow Supreme Court precedent and

hold that the Washington Pattern Instruction defining reasonable

doubt that was used at trial was a correct statement of the law?

4. Did the trial court properly sustain an objection to a

misleading statement of the law in the defense closing?

5. Did the trial court properly sustain an objection to an

argument in the defense closing that referred to facts not in

evidence?

6. Should the claim of cumulative error be rejected where no

error has been established?

7. Should this court decline to consider Bowman's objection

to the imposition of court costs, where there was no objection below

-1-
1606-1 Bowman COA



and the record supports that judge's conclusion that Bowman will

have the ability to pay the $650 imposed?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. PROCEDURAL FACTS

The defendant, Thomasdinh Bowman, was charged with

murder in the first degree, contrary to RCW 9A.32.030, for the

August 31, 2012, killing of Yancy Noll. CP 1-9. The Honorable

Bruce Heller presided over a jury trial that began on November 3,

2014. 2RP 1-2.~ The jury found Bowman guilty as charged. CP

17, 18. The court imposed a sentence within the standard range.

•. ~ ~

2. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS

On August 31, 2012, Yancy Noll left work at 7:10 p.m.,

driving his red Subaru Forester. 12RP 43. Fifteen minutes later,

he was stopped at a traffic light in north Seattle, when Bowman, a

The Report of Proceedings is in 22 volumes, referred to in this brief in the same
manner as in the Appellant's Brief, as follows: 1 RP — 10/31/14; 2RP —.11/3/14;
3RP —11/4/14; 4RP —11/5/14; 5RP —11/6/14; 6RP — 11/10/14; 7RP — 11/17/14;
8RP — 11/17/14 (supplement containing voir dire); 9RP — 11/18/14 (supplement
containing voir dire); 10RP —11/18/14; 11 RP — 11/19/14 (supplement containing
voir dire); 12RP — 11/19/14; 13RP —11/20/14; 14RP — 11/24/14; 15RP —
11/25/14; 16RP —12/1/14; 17RP — 12/2/14; 18RP — 12/3/14; 19RP —12/4/14;
20RP — 12/8/14; 21 RP —12/9/14; 22RP —1/2/15.

~~
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stranger to Noll, shot Noll four times in the head. 12RP 45-47,

51-52, 57-59; 18RP 66-81; 19RP 67; 20RP 103-04, 133. Bowman

was a skilled marksman. 16RP 33; 19RP 148-49. Noll's injuries

were fatal. 16RP 67.

When he shot Noll, Bowman was in his BMW convertible,

stopped next to Noll's Subaru, which was in the right lane. 13RP

185-87; 19RP 58, 62. After he shot Noll, Bowman pulled into the

opposite lanes of travel to get around vehicles in front of him, ran

the red light, swerving around traffic, and sped off. 12RP 47,

51-55; 13RP 17-21, 35-38. He turned down a residential street and

drove fast enough to become airborne as he crested a hill. 13RP

60, 63-66.

When Bowman shot Noll, both cars were stopped

southbound on 15th Avenue NE in Seattle, at the intersection of NE

75th Street. 12RP 47-53; 19RP 58, 62. Kevin Watts also was in a

car at the light, in front of Bowman and Noll. 12RP 45-51. Watts

heard five quick bangs behind him and heard a car's tires

squealing, then saw a silver BMW flash past, run the red light,

swerve around two cars and speed off. 12RP 47, 51-52, 57.

Angjelo Rama was driving the car, and tried to pursue the BMW,

but quickly lost it. 12RP 55; 13RP 123-25, 136-38.

-3-
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Rama drove back to the intersection, and they saw a

stationary red Subaru; the driver was not moving, so they parked to

check on him. 12RP 57; 13RP 137-39. Watts walked over to the

Subaru and saw that the driver was covered in blood, with multiple

gunshot wounds. 12RP 57-58. The driver, Noll, was in a normal

position in the driver's seat, with his hands on the steering wheel,

entirely immobile. 12RP 59. It was obvious the wounds were

lethal. 12RP 59.

Rama had another passenger, Ayumi Teraoka, who also

heard five rapid shots. 13RP 97, 100-01. She saw the BMW come

from behind them, run the red light, swerving through traffic, and

speed off. 13RP 103-06. Teraoka and Watts both were able to see

the driver of the BMW as it sped by, and together worked with a

composite artist to produce a sketch of the man. 12RP 60-63;

13RP 105, 111-13; 14RP 44-50.

Ross Hoffman was in another car stopped at the light when

the shooting occurred. 12RP 71-72. He heard five gunshots, then

the silver convertible sped past on the left side and ran the red light.

12RP 72-74. Hoffman noticed that the red Subaru did not move

when the light turned, so he drove around the block and parked

behind it to investigate. 12RP 75-76. There was a passerby at the

-4-
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driver's door, so Hoffman got into the passenger side to check on

the driver. 12RP 77. The driver, Noll, was sitting in the driver's

seat with both hands on the steering wheel, facing forward,

unmoving. 12RP 77. The two good Samaritans leaned the driver's

seat back and Noll's foot slipped off the brake, causing the Subaru,

which was still running, to begin to move, so Hoffman shifted it into

Park. 12RP 77-78. Given the amount of blood that gushed out,

Hoffman concluded that Noll was dead. 12RP 78.

None of the three people in Rama's car heard anything

unusual before the shots. 12RP 47; 13RP 100-02, 128-29.

Hoffman also did not hear any yelling, any disturbance, or anything

out of the ordinary before the shots were fired. 12RP 81. Drivers

waiting at the light in the northbound lanes of 15th Avenue NE also

did not see or hear any disturbance before the shots were fired.

13RP 27-28, 33-35.

One of the shots Bowman fired went into the home of

Patricia and Carl Schulmeister, shattering the bay window in the

living room and continuing through a lampshade and down a

hallway. 13RP 158-63. The Schulmeisters were home but were in

the kitchen and were not physically harmed. 13RP 157. The

-5-
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Schulmeisters never replaced the lampshade and have not used

the living room since. 13RP 165-66.

Nearby security video showed a car driving south

immediately after the shooting. 13RP 169, 173; 14RP 89-91.

Tinted glass was in the street on the driver's side of the Subaru; the

Subaru windows were intact, so investigators surmised that the

glass was from the shooter's car window. 13RP 192; 14RP 17.

The description of the BMW convertible, which had been

identified as a BMW Z4, the video image of the car, and the sketch

of the suspect driver of the BMW were released to the public.

~•- •~

As a result of a tip, police began investigating Bowman and

determined that Bowman owned a BMW Z4. 14RP 58, 91-92.

Bowman's residence was less than 10 blocks from the' scene of the

shooting. 14RP 92. A picture of his residence available on the

Internet depicted a silver BMW in the driveway. 14RP 60-63.

On September 21, 2012, police saw Bowman leave his

residence in a Mercedes, with his wife Jennifer driving, and stopped

the car. 14RP 68-69. Bowman was told police were investigating a

shooting that occurred nearby about three weeks earlier; he said he

had not heard about the murder. 14RP 69-72. Bowman admitted

1606-1 Bowman COA



that he owned a BMW Roadster Z4. 14RP 73. When police

interviewed Jennifer Bowman, she gave them her cell phone and

receipts that were in her purse. 14RP 101-03.

Also on September 21, police executed a search warrant on

Bowman's garage. 14RP 92-93. Inside, they found a BMW

Roadster; there were glass shards on the floorboard of the

passenger side. 14RP 93-94. Detective Duffy noticed that the

passenger window was anon-BMW brand replacement. 14RP 93.

One of the receipts in Jennifer Bowman's purse was for

dinner at Red Robin in Tacoma, the night of the shooting, at 9:17 or

9:27 p.m., charged to the credit card of D.N. Bowman. 14RP 107.

At trial, Bowman admitted that after he killed Noll, Bowman went

out to dinner with his wife, driving his wife's car. 19RP 76-78.

Bowman used a 9mm Glock 19 when he shot Noll. 15RP

151; 19RP 62, 85. He had purchased it in March of 2012. 15RP

195-98. After the shooting, he disassembled the pistol and cut up

and disposed of the barrel because he thought it could be used to

link the gun to the killing. 19RP 88-89. Bowman kept the slide of

the gun, which he did not believe could be used to match ballistic

evidence to the gun. 20RP 107-08. The gun's slide was

discovered hidden at Bowman's business, Vague Industries. 15RP

-7-
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135-38. Forensic analysis did establish that the shell casings left at

the scene of the killing matched the slide. 15RP 165-66.

Police investigation established that on the night of the

killing, Bowman turned off his own cell phone and quickly obtained

another telephone (a TracFone, essentially a disposable cell

phone) that he registered using a false identity, Peter Nguyen.

14RP 169-73. Using the name Peter Nguyen, Bowman called a

BMW store and an auto glass company at about 9 a.m. on

September 1, 2012, the day after Noll was killed, to ask about

having a window replaced on his BMW. 14RP 121, 165-71. That

day Bowman and his wife drove the BMW to Portland and had the

front passenger window replaced. 14RP 114-16, 119-21. Bowman

paid the $250 bill in cash. 14RP 145. Bowman was calm, acting

normally, but his wife seemed distraught. 14RP 142-44, 153-54.

After the window was replaced, Bowman kept the BMW

concealed in his garage. 20RP 70. Between September 12 and

September 21, Bowman spray-painted the originally silver wheels

of the BMW black. 14RP 94-95, 98, 109-10; 20RP 93. On

September 20, Bowman bought four tires from Big O Tires in

Lynnwood, Washington, paying $875 in cash. 14RP 110-11; 15RP

68-72. They were for his BMW, but Bowman did not bring the car
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to the store, just the wheels. 15RP 68. The Big O sales manager

was surprised that the tires were being replaced, because they

were like new. 15RP 75. The new tires had a distinctly different

type of tread. 15RP 75-76. Bowman took the old tires away with

him. 15RP 79-80.

Police searched the computers at Bowman's business and

discovered a collection of documents relating to investigation of

shootings: "Forensic Gunshot Residue Analysis," "Chemical

Analysis of Firearms, Ammunition and Gunshot Residue," "Gunshot

Wounds —Practical Aspects of Firearms, Ballistics and Forensic

Techniques," "Advances in Fingerprint Technology," "Automated

Fingerprint Identification Systems," "Forensic Interpretation of Glass

Evidence," and "Arrest-Proof Yourself." 17RP 68-70. Two more

documents on the computer were guides to committing murder and

getting away with it: Murder Inc. and The Death Dealer's Manual.

17RP 70-71; 18RP 139-43; 20RP 49, 70-73. Very limited portions

of Murder Inc. and The Death Dealer's Manual were admitted at

trial. Ex. 249, 250, 320, 321; 6RP 23-51; 18RP 139-43; 20RP 3-10,

49, 70-73.

Bowman testified that he cut Noll off in traffic and Noll

became very angry, pursued Bowman's BMW, yelled a threat, and
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threw a water bottle into Bowman's car as they drove on the

freeway. 19RP 41-49. Bowman claimed that he tried to get away

from Noll, but Noll pursued Bowman off the freeway and to the

intersection where the shooting occurred. 19RP 53-58. Bowman

claimed that Noll was still extremely angry, shouting and cursing,

and threw a wine bottle into the BMW, which hit Bowman in the

back of the head. 19RP 62-64. Bowman claimed that he saw Noll

searching for something in the passenger seat. 19RP 66, 68.

Bowman got his Glock out of his bag that was on the passenger

seat and shot Noll. 19RP 62, 67. Bowman claimed to have no

memory of firing the shots, although he admitted he fired them.

•-- .

At sentencing, Bowman argued that the court should

consider as mitigation that Bowman acted in self defense. 22RP

42. The court responded, "the jury rejected it as do I." 22RP 42.

The court observed that Yancy Noll had his hands on the steering

wheel when he was shot, and that Bowman's actions after the

shooting were inconsistent with a person who had just narrowly

escaped serious injury by an enraged motorist, citing Bowman

going out to dinner and claiming that he threw away evidence that

would support his version of events. 22RP 43.

-10-
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C. ARGUMENT

1. THE STATE'S PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE TO
JUROR 5 WAS PROPERLY MOTIVATED BY
RACE-NEUTRAL REASONS.

Bowman argues that the State's peremptory challenge of

Juror 5, an African-American woman, violated the Equal Protection

Clause. To prove his claim, Bowman asserts that the State's race-

neutral reasons were a pretext for discrimination based on race.

This claim is meritless. A review of the record makes plain that the

State challenged Juror 5 based on race-neutral reasons that were

not present in any other potential juror: her professed inability to

make a decision based on evidence presented and her belief that a

nephew who had been in prison for 30 years on a murder

conviction actually might be innocent. The trial court's finding that

"the reasons that have been provided by the State for excluding this

juror are not racially-based and they are not a pretext for race"2 is

not clearly erroneous.

The Equal Protection Clause guarantees a defendant the

right to be tried by a jury selected free from racial discrimination.

U.S. CorvsT. amend. 14; Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 85, 106

S. Ct. 1712, 90 L. Ed. 2d 69 (1986). When reviewing a Batson

2 11 R P 70.
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challenge, the trial court undertakes athree-part inquiry to

determine whether the challenged juror is being stricken based on

purposeful discrimination.

First, a defendant opposing the State's peremptory

challenge of a juror must establish a prima facie case of purposeful

discrimination. Batson, 476 U.S. at 93-96. Second, if the

defendant establishes a prima facie case, the burden shifts to the

State to articulate arace-neutral explanation for challenging the

juror. Id. at 97-98. Third, the trial court considers the State's

explanation and determines whether the defendant has

demonstrated purposeful discrimination. Id. at 98. Although the

final step involves evaluating the persuasiveness of the State's

explanation, the ultimate burden of persuasion that there has been

purposeful discrimination rests with the defendant. Rice v. Collins,

546 U.S. 333, 338, 126 S. Ct. 969, 163 L. Ed. 2d 824 (2006).

Here, the trial court did not address the first Batson step,

which requires the defendant establish a prima facie case of racial

discrimination, because the State began by offering its reasons for

the challenge. Once a prosecutor has offered grace-neutral

explanation and the trial court has ruled on the ultimate question of

intentional discrimination, the preliminary issue of whether the
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defendant has made a prima facie showing is moot. Hernandez v.

New York, 500 U.S. 352, 359, 111 S. Ct. 1859, 114 L. Ed. 2d 395

(1991); State v. Luvene, 127 Wn.2d 690, 699, 903 P.2d 960 (1995).

The trial court's determination at the third step, as to the

existence of purposeful discrimination, is accorded great deference

by the appellate courts and will be upheld unless clearly erroneous.

State v. Hicks, 163 Wn.2d 477, 486, 181 P.3d 831 (2008). The trial

court "must evaluate not only whether the prosecutor's demeanor

belies a discriminatory intent, but also whether the juror's demeanor

can credibly be said to have exhibited the basis for the strike."

Snyder v. Louisiana, 552 U.S. 472, 477, 128 S. Ct. 1203, 170 L.

Ed. 2d 175 (2008). Determinations of credibility and demeanor are

"peculiarly within a trial judge's province" and must be deferred to

on appeal absent exceptional circumstances. Id. (citations

omitted); United States v. Kuhrt, 788 F.3d 403, 413 (5th Cir. 2015)

(inquiry is "quintessentially aquestion of fact which turns heavily on

demeanor and other issues not discernible from a cold record, such

that deference to the trial court is highly warranted.").
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a. Relevant Facts.

During preliminary questioning, the trial court asked potential

jurors if they, or close friends or relatives, had been accused of a

crime, rightly or wrongly. 9RP 58. Eighteen venire members

responded that they had. 9RP 58-59.

Juror 5 said she had a nephew in California, about 50 years

old, who had been serving time since he was a teenager for "a

major crime." 9RP 60. The court asked what crime; Juror 5 said it

was murder. 9RP 60. Asked if that would "impact your ability to

judge this case on its merits," Juror 5 said no. 9RP 60.

During its first round of voir dire,3 the State asked Juror 5 her

reaction when she heard the charge. Juror 5 said that like the other

jurors who had been asked that question, she did not have a strong

reaction. 9RP 112. Then the following exchange occurred:

MS. McCOY: Okay. And you mentioned that you had a
family member who is serving time for I believe you said it
was a murder.

JUROR 5: Yes.

MS. McCOY: Do you believe that person was rightfully or
wrongly accused?

JUROR 5: That's hard because I don't know. I don't know
that I'll ever know for sure.

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